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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Gravel Hill is a two-story white frame Greek revival structure set upon a
raised basement. This one-time plantation was constructed between 1857 and 1859
by Benjamin Lawton Willingham (1828-1898).

Exterior: The front facade is characterized by a gable roof and a one-story portico
which is supported by four wooden square columns. Wooden balustrades both enclose
and top the portico. A Cross and Bible entrance door with saw-tooth moldings
features transom and sidelights. Located directly above the first floor door, on
both the second story and in the gable end of the roof, similar windows repeat the
moldings and sidelights. Sandstone steps lead to the front entrance way.

A balustraded piazza with five small columns extends along the east facade.
A parapet is located above the side piazza along the front facade. The side door
is similar to the entrance door and is enhanced by a window (with sidelights and
moldings) located directly above on the second floor.

A11 windows (with the exception of three small windows) are 6/6. The windows
along the front and east side facades, except those with sidelights and moldings,
have louvered shutters. The high gable metal roof features boxed cornices and
four interior brick chimneys.

A raised terrace connecting the front portico and side piazza was added
ca. 1900, and the foundation was enclosed with cement ca. 1955. During the course
of the years, two small wings have been added to the rear of the structure.

Interior: The interior floor plan is basically rectangular with wide central halls
extending the length of the house on both floors. An equally wide side hall
leading to the side piazza connects to the main floor central hallway. A stairway
broken by landing and completed with hand-wrought wooden railing is located in
rear. There are a total of fifteen rooms, with eight on the main floor, six on

the upper floor, and one off the stairway landing. An attic is located on the
third level.

Throughout the structure the walls and ceilings are made of plaster, none of
which have been covered or replaced. The rear hall is separated from the central
hallway by double Cross and Bible doors with sidelights and transom, similar to
front and side entrance doors. The sitting room and dining room are connected
by a three-paneled folding door which can be pushed back to create a large
entertaining area.

A central oblong plaster medallion of grape and cherub design is located in
the central hallway on the main floor. A similar medallion appears in the front
parlor. Wall moldings are of similar design, and wooden mantels and woodwork are
marbleized. The guest bedroom on the main floor has a deep plain plaster molding.
Appearing throughout the structure are wide baseboards, mantels and moldings.

(continued)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Gravel Hi11, constructed between 1857 and 1859, is important not only as an
example of Greek revival architecture, but also as one of the few remaining planta-
tions of the Buddenville area (about five miles SW of present day Allendale, South
Carolina ). In the first half of the 19th Century Buddenville was "a region
inhabited by large planters and land owners where wealth, affluence, culture_ and
high standards of 1iving were reflected in palatial homes and surroundings."1 Gravel
Hi11 is one of the few structures in the Buddenville area that was not destroyed in
the War Between the States.

Further significance stems from the contributions of the past owners of Gravel
Hi11, who have been influential in community, county, and religious affairs. The
original owner and builder of Gravel Hill was Benjamin Lawton Willingham (1828-1898).
He resided there until after the War Between the States, at which time he gave the
house to one of his daughters, Phobe Willingham Malone. In the 1880s she sold the
plantation to Charles Edward Bryan, in whose family it has remained for three
generations.

Architecture: Gravel Hill exemplifies the Greek revival architecture which gained
prominence during the 19th Century and is one of the few structures in the Allendale
area from the antebellum era.

The interior is especially notable due to the quality of detail work and its
basically unaltered condition. The marbleized mantels and woodwork, plaster
- medallions and moldings, and walls and ceilings remain in good condition.

Politics: William Bryan, an owner of Gravel Hill, served as one of the original
members of the Allendale County Board of Commissioners (1920). In the 1930s he
assisted in securing the Savannah River Bridge into Georgia.

Religion: Reverend Robert J. Willingham (1854-1914), son of Benjamin Lawton
Willingham, lived at Gravel Hill until after the War Between the States. He served
as corresponding secretary for the Foreign Board of the Southern Baptist Convention

1atexania Easterling Lawton and Minnie Reeves Wilson, Alléndale on the Savannah
(Bamberg, South Carolina: Bamberg Herald Printers, 1970), p. 164.
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The basement originally extended the length and breadth of the structure but
has been closed off with only one part remaining in use for storage purposes.

Surroundings: This one-time cotton plantation originally consisted of ca. one
thousand acres, seven of which are being nominated. Included in these seven acres
are a two-story frame smokehouse with hip roof, garage and well.

The orchards around the structure have been destroyed through the years, but
some trees do survive. The original gardens with boxwood bordered beds and
paths were replaced by lawns during the 1920s.
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for twenty years. "Willingham became widely known as an unusually effective
speaker in behalf of missions; it was during his tenure that Southern Baptists
made magked advances in the work of seminaries and publishing houses around the

world."

2Joe M. King, A History of Southern Baptists (Columbia, South Carolina:
R. L. Bryan Company, 1964), p. 345.
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